FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/8/2021 4:40 PM

99971-6

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/13/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
FOR THE FIRST DIVISION

Sherri A. Urann
Respondent,
v.
Wilson Luu
Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KING COUNTY CASE NO. 19-2-05452-2 SEA Judge Susan Craighead

# APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF DECISION TERMINATING REVIEW (R.A.P. 12.4) TREATED AS A PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### DICKSON FROHLICH, PS

Kerry P. Zeiler, WSBA #56524 Thomas L. Dickson, WSBA #11802 1200 East D Street Tacoma, WA 98421 Telephone: (253) 572-1000 Facsimile: (253) 572-1300 Attorneys for Appellant

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Wilson Luu seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals denying motion for reconsideration. Petitioner was the Appellant before Division One of the Court of Appeals and the Defendant before the trial court. The court issued its decision terminating review on June 8, 2021.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On February 11, 2020, the trial court issued a decision denying Petitioner's motion for summary judgment and granting Respondent's cross-motion for summary judgment. On April 26, 2021, the Court of Appeals, Division I, affirmed the trial court's decision denying Petitioner's motion for summary judgment and granting Respondent's cross-motion for summary judgment. On June 8, 2021, the Court of Appeals, Division I, denied Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration of Decision Terminating Review (R.A.P. 12.4).

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err in this case? This appeal presents two questions:

- 1. If two reasonable judicial officers came to two different conclusions on the same summary judgment motion, is it error to sustain it?
- 2. If the Court of Appeals claims they weighed no facts, but then weighed facts in place of a jury, is it error?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Background Facts

This case involves a dispute between two neighbors concerning ownership and removal of English laurel hedges between their properties, with Respondent having asserted timber trespass for the hedge removal, and Luu having asserted adverse possession of the disputed tract upon which the laurels rested based upon the long existence of a fence between their properties on Respondent's side of the hedges, and Luu's predecessor's maintenance of the disputed hedges for a 30-year period.

Appellant, Wilson Luu's property, located at 14020 Courtland Place N, Seattle, Washington 98133 was first developed in 1985. This property lies adjacent to Respondent, Sherri A. Urann's property located at 14014 Courtland Place N, Seattle, Washington 98133. The

dispute involves the border, and hedges along the short border, between the two residential properties.

#### **B.** Procedural History

On February 26, 2019, Respondent filed this case in King County Superior Court. On September 6, 2019, Judge Rosen denied Respondent's motion for summary judgment. In December 2019, the case was transferred to Judge Craighead of King County Superior Court. Petitioner filed a motion for summary judgment and Respondent filed a cross motion for summary judgment. Respondent's cross motion presented the identical motion for summary judgment in which Judge Rosen has previously denied without disclosing it was the identical motion in accordance with King County Local Rule 7(b). Despite Respondent's non-compliance with King County Local Rule 7(b), the trial court granted summary judgment to Respondent and denied summary judgment for Petitioner on January 27, 2020.

On January 29, 2020, Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the King County Superior Court. On February 11, 2020, the trial court denied Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration and entered a judgment in favor of Respondent on March 2, 2020. Petitioner

timely filed a Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division I, on March 3, 2020.

On April 26, 2021, the Court of Appeals, Division I, affirmed the trial court's findings. On May 10, 2021, Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration pursuant to R.A.P. 12.4. On June 8, 2021, the Court of Appeals, Division I, denied Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration. Now, Petitioner seeks this court for review pursuant to R.A.P. 13.4.

#### III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Summary Judgment Is Inappropriate When Two Different Judicial Officers Reach Two Different Conclusions on The Same Motion for Summary Judgment.

Courts are certainly allowed to deviate from their own rules – that is their inherent power. (*Ashely v. Superior Court*, 83 Wn.2d 630, 636, 521 P.2d 711 (1974).) This inherent power is not limitless and must be weighed against the effect of such waiver. (Id.) When the waiver defeats the very purpose of that same rule, then surely the waiver must be disallowed.

In this case, the Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's waiver of King County Local Rule 7(b)(7), which disallows refiling "the same motion to a different judge or commissioner without showing

by declaration the motion previously made, when and to which judge or commissioner, what the order or decision waws, and any new facts or other circumstances that would justify seeking a different ruling from another judge or commissioner."

Again, waiving this rule is completely within a court's inherent power but only to the extent that its effect does not defeat the rule's very purpose. That is, arguably, to prevent two judges of identical positions from reaching two different conclusions. But, that's **exactly** what happened in this case.

The first trial court judge denied Respondent's summary judgment motion, finding sufficient issues of material fact to require a trial. The Respondent presented the identical motion for summary judgment a second time to a second judicial officer, without either disclosing it had previously done so, or identifying what was different about the first denied motion. The second trial court judge subsequently granted Respondent's summary judgment motion and found there were no issues of material fact. The trial court's waiver of King County Local Rule 7(b) led to the current predicament where two different trial court judges reached two different conclusions on the same summary judgment motion. The very outcome the rule was enacted to avoid has

occurred. If two judges of identical positions do reach different conclusions on the same legal issue, then reasonable persons cannot be said to only be able to reach one conclusion. It stands to reason that summary judgment would then be inappropriate when (1) the case presents genuine issues of fact, and (2) the moving party is not entitled to a judgement as a matter of law. (CR 56(c).) There is nothing on point prohibiting this result despite the King County local rule, which is designed to prevent it. There are some out of state decisions on point, derived from the premises that no appeal lies from the decision of one superior court judge to another – a question of supremacy. A series of North Carolina cases is right on point and offered as persuasive – the courts there have ruled "[a] decision on summary judgment is a decision on a matter of law and may not be overruled by a second trial judge on the same legal issue. (Taylorsville Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Keen, 110 N.C. App. 784, 785, 431 S.E.2d 484, 484-85 (1993) (citing American Travel Corp. v. Central Carolina Bank, 57 N.C.App. 437, 440, 291 S.E.2d 892, 894, cert. denied, 306 N.C. 555, 294 S.E.2d 369 (1982)). This is juxtaposed by the treatment of summary judgment in Washington State, where courts have stressed the language of CR 56(c) suggests that a summary judgment motion is interlocutory.

#### CR 56 (c) says, in pertinent part:

A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

It is a question of statutory construction, but since a summary judgment motion is dispositive, that would suggest the language of the statue means what it says with its qualifier – an interlocutory summary judgment order may be rendered on the issue of liability alone even while damages are at issue. But, where a court has made findings of fact and conclusions of law, as required by CR 56(d), to have another judge rule differently on the same motion is nothing but having one superior court judge overrule another. Again, a supremacy issue.

This was part of Mr. Luu's appeal, but Court of Appeals was unpersuaded that a rule deviation would impact the result and ruled that a trial court may waive its own rules. For the reasons stated herein, respectfully, Petitioner respectfully requests that this court consider the substantial public interest of the effect of such waiver as anything but a harmless deviation.

In fact, by allowing a moving party to waive King County Local Rule 7 and subsequently bring an identical summary judgment motion to a second trial court sets a precedence that authorizes judges of identical positions to overrule one another In turn, this encourages parties to forum shop and skews the public perception of judicial fairness dependent on which judicial officer is assigned to its case. This ultimately defeats the very purpose of a summary judgment procedure, which is to determine in an expeditious manner whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the movant is entitled to judgment on the issue presented as a matter of law. (CR 56).

In fact, Respondent's failure to notify the second trial court judge that she had already brought an identical motion to a previous trial court judge can note be called a harmless deviation as it clearly demonstrates the principal of law this court has set down that mandates reversal: summary judgment should ONLY be granted if, from all of the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but **one conclusion**. (*Wilson v. Steinbach* 98 Wn. 2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030, 1031 (1982)) (emphasis added). Quite obviously, reasonable persons could not reach but one conclusion in this case. Given that two reasonable persons reached two different conclusions, summary judgment is not appropriate and the disputed material facts should be held at trial.

The Court of Appeals erred by not applying this precedential *maxim* and not vacating the trial court's grant of summary judgment and remand the case for further proceedings.

# B. Summary Judgment is Inappropriate When the Appellate Courts Weigh and Value Disputed Facts.

The standard of review for summary judgment motions has long been well established: when there are multiple possible interpretations of disputed materials facts then summary judgment must be denied and the case must proceed to a trier of fact. Further, all facts and inferences must be construed in favor of the nonmoving party. (*Wilson v. Steinbach* 98 Wn. 2d 434, 437.)

The trial court's rulings in this case simply flies in the face of the summary judgment standard. Not only did two different judges interpret the material facts differently, but the appellate court weighed and valued the disputed material facts in favor of the Respondent, the moving party. In construing summary judgment, the appellate court may not deviate from legal standards and make factual determinations. It is of substantial public interest that this court definitively rule that weighing and judging disputed facts is for a trier of fact to resolve. Disputed questions of material facts are for trials, and juries, to resolve.

A summary judgment motion on appeal is reviewed *de novo*. (*Strauss v. Premera Blue Cross*, 194 Wn.2d 296, 300, 449 P.3d 640 (2019).) A summary judgment motion on appeal is also reviewed with "the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." (*Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).) Where there are multiple possible interpretations of disputed materials facts, summary judgment must be denied, and the case must proceed to a trier of facts. (*Wilson v. Steinbach* 98 Wn. 2d 434, 437.)

Here, the Court of Appeals erred by departing from these rules, and making factual determinations as if it were a fact finder by weighing evidence against Petitioner to find "inadequate motivation" and affirming a grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent. In so doing, the Court of Appeal identified multiple material disputed facts – such as the source of the infestation and the fence.

Specifically at page 9 footnote 3, of its opinion, the court states that:

We note that the record is lacking in evidence that would establish the hedge was a nuisance – it includes two pest control receipts for yellow jacket and spider extermination and two vet receipts referring to treating

Luu's dog for bee stings. None of these records reference the hedge. Luu's only declaration simply states that he "had been experiencing issues since moving in which [he] believed to be caused by the hedges." (*Opinion*, pgs. 9-10, fn. 3.)

That is the Court of Appeals weighing Petitioner's evidence and determining its value – a role that should be done in trial. If an appellate court questions whether the submitted evidence is sufficient to establish a claim and then proceeds to determine that it is not, then there is a genuine issue as to a material fact and the moving party is not entitled to summary judgment.

Appellate courts do not weigh evidence and dismiss its value. This is **error**. Disputed questions of material fact are for trials and juries to resolve. (*Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 596, 598-99, 809 P.2d 143 (1991).) The trial court may not replace the jury by weighing facts or deciding factual issues in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. (*Hemenway v. Miller*, 116 Wn.2d 725, 731(1991).) The Court of Appeals errs where it improperly weighs Petitioner's evidence and subsequently makes a conclusion that the evidence is lacking.

The above-cited footnote 3 is also evidence of a disputed material fact which is entitled to all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to Petitioner as the nonmoving party. In *contra* point,

Petitioner's declaration that he believed the hedges were the source of infestation of yellow jackets and spiders is to be accepted as true since Petitioner did in fact take action upon his belief, is entitled to do so, and provided sufficient supporting proof. Petitioner's belief, supported by evidence as submitted, is sufficient to show that there is a dispute over a material fact.

Despite the requirement to construe all inferences and factual interpretations in favor of Petitioner, the Court of Appeals declined to do so. The decision states that the court so applied the rule, but if it were applying it uniformly then there would be no need for footnote 3 to be weighing evidence. One should look beyond what someone says and examine what he/she does to determine their true intention. After all, had the Court of Appeal uniformly applied these rules, then they identified an item of material fact that should be tried to a jury. It is a jury that makes decisions of motivation and veracity – not this court which has heard no testimony.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The unforeseen effect of one judge overruling the conclusion of another judge of identical positions is of substantial public interest. First, parties will be motivated to forum shop for a judge that is likely

to rule in its favor. Second, parties will file an unending series of

summary judgment motions until they reach a favorable conclusion.

Lastly, the role of the appellate court will become a fact finder instead

of a reviewer. This is error.

It is of paramount importance that this court definitively rule that

summary judgment is inappropriate if two judicial officers disagree on

their conclusions, and emphasize that the role of weighing and valuing

facts is for judges and juries, not the appellate courts. Trial courts are

setting a dangerous precedence of arbitrarily making summary

judgment determinations. We urge this court to set clear and defined

limits on a court's authority to disregard the decisions of another

judicial officer and overrule them on an already decided matter.