FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/9/2021 1:01 PM

99971-6

№ 81199-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILSON LUU, Appellant,

vs.

SHERRI URANN, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

David Ruzumna, WSBA #27094 Attorney for Respondent Sherri Urann

David Ruzumna LAW OFFICE OF DAVID RUZUMNA, PLLC 2442 NW Market Street, Suite 575 Seattle, WA 98107 (206) 985-8000 *druzumna@gmail.com*

I. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

As discussed in §II below, despite Appellant Luu making much of Judge Craighead's application of King County Local Rule 7(b)(7), the purpose of the rule was served because at no time was Judge Craighead left with any misimpression as to Judge Rosen's previous ruling.

Fundamentally, Appellant Luu is appealing a grant of summary judgment; as discussed in §III below, nowhere in the Appellant's petition for review does Appellant identify the genuine issue of material fact that remained to be resolved at trial.

Although Appellant Luu's conduct constituted a rather egregious example of timber trespass, nothing in this case presents an issue of concern such that Supreme Court review is warranted.

II. RESPONDENT'S COMPLIANCE WITH KING COUNTY LOCAL RULE 7(B)(7) WAS DISCUSSED THOROUGHLY ON THE RECORD TO THE SATISFACTION OF JUDGE CRAIGHEAD

Appellant Luu contends that Respondent Urann violated King County Local Civil Rule

("KCLR") 7(b)(7), and that this violation was prejudicial. KCLR 7(b)(7) provides, in full:

(7) **Reopening Motions.** No party shall remake the same motion to a different judge or commissioner without showing by declaration the motion previously made, when and to which judge or commissioner, what the order or decision was, and any new facts or other circumstances that would justify seeking a different ruling from another judge or commissioner.

KCLR 7(b)(7).

If 'Judge A' rules on a motion, a litigant may not bring the same motion before 'Judge B' without

disclosing, by declaration, five pieces of information:

- 1. The fact that the motion was previously brought;
- 2. When the motion was previously brought;
- 3. Before whom the motion was previously brought;
- 4. What result was obtained before 'Judge A;' AND
- 5. Any new facts or circumstances that would justify seeking a different ruling before 'Judge B.'

The intent of this rule is as clear as it is sound. Obviously, one superior court judge may not 'overrule' a fellow superior court judge, and KCRL 7(b)(7) ensures that the second judicial officer is fully aware of the prior hearing. In this case, Judge Craighead had all five pieces of information before her. In his Response to Ms. Urann's cross motion for summary judgement, Mr. Luu argued that the law of the case doctrine precluded Judge Craighead from revisiting Ms. Urann's motion for summary judgment. In her reply brief, Ms. Urann established that law of the case doctrine does not apply to denials of summary judgment. The entire issue of the propriety of Ms. Urann noting a cross motion for summary judgment was thoroughly discussed between Judge Craighead and both attorneys at the time the summary judgment motions were argued. *See* RP 73, line 21, through RP 76, line 14. That colloquy is attached hereto as an appendix for the court's convenience and will not be repeated here. Suffice it to say that Judge Craighead did not "waive" KCLR 7(b)(7); rather, she heard the motion because the five pieces of information required by the rule were disclosed to her in the briefing (although admittedly those pieces of information did not come in the form of a separate declaration). This is not a situation where Ms. Urann was unhappy with the ruling from Judge Rosen and simply sought a "do-over" before Judge Craighead. Mr. Luu's counsel herself acknowledged that additional information was now before Judge Craighead.

III. <u>SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER, BECAUSE THERE WERE NO</u> <u>GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT TO BE TRIED.</u>

During oral argument before Judge Craighead, Ms. Urann's counsel stated "I'm going so far as to say on the record that we will accept as true the declarations that the defendant himself has put forward...". *See* RP 101, line 18. Such a statement would typically be unwise in the context of a summary judgment motion, but remains true. In her response to Mr. Luu's Motion for Summary Judgment, Ms. Urann painstakingly went through each declaration put forth by Mr. Luu to demonstrate that there was an absence of evidence needed to establish each element of Mr. Luu's claims. *See* CP 306-310. The *absence* of evidence to support any one (or more) elements of a claim is fatal to that claim for purposes of summary judgment.

IV. THE APPELLATE COURT DID NOT "JUDGE AND WEIGH" EVIDENCE AS TO THE NUISANCE CLAIM BY POINTING OUT THE REASONS MR. LUU'S PROFFERED EVIDENCE WAS SIMPLY INSUFFICIENT.

Mr. Luu argues that the Court of Appels weighed evidence relating to the nuisance claim. Mr. Luu argues that page 9 footnote 3 of the Court of Appeals opinion *demonstrates* that the Court erroneously weighed certain evidence and dismissed its value. He does not dispute the accuracy of the substance of the Court's words; rather, he characterizes the Court's explanation as weighing evidence.

We note that the record is lacking in evidence that would establish the hedge was a nuisance -it includes two pest control receipts for yellow jacket and spider extermination and two vet receipts referring to treating Luu's dog for bee stings. None of these records reference the hedge. Luu's only declaration simply states that he "had been experiencing issues since moving in which [he] believed to be caused by the hedges."

See Court's Opinion, pp 9-10, footnote 3 (cited in Mr. Luu's Motion for Reconsideration at page 9).

The substance of the cited portion of the Court's opinion is an *explanation* as to why the record is "lacking in evidence that the hedge was a nuisance." Ms. Urann acknowledges that Luu's declaration states that he "had been experiencing issues since moving in which [he] believed to be caused by the hedges." Ms. Urann concedes that for purposes of summary judgment, a reviewing court must accept that this was a genuine belief. But it is axiomatic that mere allegations unsupported by evidence are insufficient to survive summary judgment. CR 56(c), (e); H.B.H. v. State, 197 Wn.App. 77, 93, 387 P.3d 1093 (2016); Martini v. Post, 178 Wn.App. 153, 165, 313 P.3d 473 (2013). A claim cannot rest on a speculative theory or an argumentative assertion of possible counterfactual events. *Id.* The nonmoving party must provide specific facts that demonstrate a genuine issue for trial, that would be admissible in evidence and that are supported by affidavits "made on personal knowledge." CR 56(c), (e).

Mr. Luu's evidence as to nuisance consisted entirely of his personal belief that the hedge was a nuisance, but he presented no admissible evidence to support his belief. This is the quintessence of a mere allegation, unsupported by any evidence (let alone admissible evidence).

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The April 26, 2021 opinion of the Court of Appeals was entirely sound and should stand.

RESPECTFULLY submitted this <u>9th</u> day of August, 2021.

LAW OFFICE OF DAVID RUZUMNA, PLLC:

David Ruzumna, WSBA № 27094 Attorney for Respondent Sherri Urann 2442 NW Market Street, Suite 575 Seattle, WA 98107 Tel: (206) 985-8000 | *druzumna@gmail.com*